FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 14 1995

JERRY JAY CHICONE III,

Petitioner,

ν.

CASE NO. 85, 136

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

On Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction To Review A Decision Of The Florida Fifth District Court Of Appeal

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MR. CHICONE'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

TERRENCE E. KEHOE Law Offices of Terrence E. Kehoe Tinker Building 18 West Pine Street Orlando, Florida 32801 407/422-4147 407/849-6059 (FAX)

JAMES M. RUSS Law Offices of James M. Russ, P.A. Tinker Building 18 West Pine Street Orlando, Florida 32801 407/849-6050 407/849-6059 (FAX)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the Petitioner, JERRY JAY CHICONE, III, will be referred to as "MR. CHICONE." The Respondent, State of Florida, will be referred as the "state." The appendix attached to this brief will be referred as "App.," followed by the appropriate letter and page number. The record on appeal will be referred to by the volume number, followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This case is based upon an appellate decision involving two judgments withholding adjudication of guilt and written orders and sentences of probation entered against MR. CHICONE in a criminal case arising in the Circuit Court, Ninth Judicial Circuit, in and for Orange County, Florida ("trial court") - Case No. CR92-8163.

On September 11, 1992, the State of Florida filed a criminal information charging MR. CHICONE with two counts (II/84). Specifically, Count One alleged

...that JERRY J. CHICONE III, on the 4th day of August, 1992, in said County and State, did, in violation of Florida Statute 893.13(1)(f), actually or constructively possess Cocaine, or a mixture containing Cocaine, a substance controlled by Florida Statute 893.03(2)(a)(4).

Count Two alleged

...that JERRY J. CHICONE III, on the 4th day of August, 1992, in said County and State, did, in violation of Florida Statute 893.147(1), use or possess drug paraphernalia, to-wit: a smoking device, with intent to use said paraphernalia to inject, ingest, inhale, or otherwise introduce into the human body or process, prepare, pack, repack, store or contain a controlled substance, in violation Chapter 893 Florida Statute.

MR. CHICONE filed a motion to dismiss both counts of the criminal information, asserting among other things that neither count alleged all essential elements of the offense charged, because neither alleged the essential element of scienter or knowledge (II/85-89). That motion was denied prior to trial (II/91-92).

A trial occurred on August 9-11, 1993 (SR/182). At trial, as to Count One MR. CHICONE orally and in writing requested the trial court add a fourth element to the standard drug possession instruction. That element was "MR. CHICONE knew that the substance was cocaine" (I/28-29; II/100). The trial court refused to do so, and, over objection, read the standard jury instruction (I/26-30). As to Count Two, MR. CHICONE orally and in writing requested that the jury be instructed that a third element to be proven was that "MR. CHICONE knew that the object was drug paraphernalia" (I/32; II/102). The trial court refused to do so, and, over objection, read the standard jury instruction (I/31-32). On August 11, 1993, the jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged as to both counts (II/121-122). MR. CHICONE's post-verdict motions for new trial, arrest of judgment, and judgment of acquittal (I/70-71; II/124-129; SR/175-176) were denied (II/131-134).

At sentencing on October 6, 1993 (II/73-83), the trial court withheld adjudication of guilt, and placed MR. CHICONE on one year of community control to be followed by three years of probation (II/73-83, 138, 139-144). The trial court did not orally pronounce separate sentences for Counts One and Two (II/78-82).

MR. CHICONE filed his timely notices of appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. In the appeal, MR. CHICONE claimed 1) that the trial court erred in failing to dismiss the information for failure to allege the essential scienter elements; 2) that the trial court erred in failing to include the element of knowledge of the illegal nature of the substance and paraphernalia in its jury instructions; and 3) that the trial court had erred in entering its November 12, 1993, sentencing order, which imposed enhanced conditions of probation which were not imposed at the original sentencing hearing on October 6, 1993. MR. CHICONE claimed that the additional conditions of probation imposed in the November 12, 1993, sentencing order must be stricken.

On December 2, 1994, the Fifth District entered its opinion (App. A). Chicone v. State, __ So.2d __ (Fla. 5th DCA 12/2/94) [19 Fla. L. Weekly D2538]. The court affirmed the convictions, vacated MR. CHICONE's sentence, and remanded the case "for resentencing and resolution of the discrepancies," because the trial court had imposed special conditions of probation in written sentences which were not orally pronounced at sentencing. On December 19, 1994, MR. CHICONE filed a Motion for Rehearing, Rehearing En Banc, or Certification to the Florida Supreme Court (App. B). On January 12, 1995, the Fifth District denied that motion (App. C).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION BECAUSE
THE FIFTH DISTRICT'S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY
CONFLICTS WITH OTHER APPELLATE COURTS ON THE ISSUES
OF SCIENTER AND THE SENTENCING REMAND

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const., to review cases which expressly and directly conflict with decisions of this Court or other district courts of appeal on the same question of law. This Court should exercise that jurisdiction and accept MR. CHICONE's case for review because the Fifth District's decision expressly and directly conflicts with numerous decisions on the issues of a) whether the information and jury instructions must include the essential element of knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance or paraphernalia involved and b) the proper remedy for dealing with special conditions of probation illegally imposed in a subsequent written sentencing order which were not orally pronounced at sentencing, were imposed without notice or hearing, were imposed after the commencement of the original sentence, and which enhance the original sentence.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION BECAUSE
THE FIFTH DISTRICT'S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY
CONFLICTS WITH OTHER APPELLATE COURTS ON THE ISSUES
OF SCIENTER AND THE SENTENCING REMAND

A. Scienter

In its opinion, the Fifth District stated that the possession statute - § 893.13(1)(f), Fla.Stat. (1991) - under which MR. CHICONE was charged does not require "knowing" possession of a controlled substance in order to obtain a conviction (App. A, p. 2). For that proposition it cited State v. Ryan, 413 So.2d 411

(Fla. 4th DCA), rev. denied, 421 So.2d 518 (Fla. 1982); and State v. Medlin, 273 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1973). Again, citing those two cases, the court further ruled that the state neither had to prove, nor allege in its information, that MR. CHICONE knew that the substance he possessed was cocaine, or knew that the object he possessed was drug paraphernalia (App. A, p. 3).

The Fifth District's holding conflicts with the entire line of constructive possession cases which are applicable to MR. CHICONE's situation because he was not in actual possession of either the cocaine or drug paraphernalia at the time of his arrest. Florida appellate courts have ruled that the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt in constructive possession cases that the defendant 1) had dominion and control over the contraband, 2) knew the contraband was within his presence, and 3) knew of the illicit nature of the contraband. Brown v. State, 428 So.2d 250, 252 (Fla.), cert. denied, 463 U.S. 1209 (1983); Skelton v. State, 609 So.2d 716, 717 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Cordero v. State, 589 So.2d 407, 409 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); Moffatt v. State, 583 So.2d 779, 781 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); Kuhn v. State, 439 So.2d 291, 293 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); Wale v. State, 397 So.2d 738, 739 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). Since a defendant must know of the illicit nature of the contraband in a constructive possession case, it is clear that a jury must be instructed on that knowledge element in order to comply with fundamental due process. The jury was not so instructed on either count in MR. CHICONE's case.

The Fifth District's ruling on the failure to plead or instruct the jury on the knowledge issue also directly and

expressly conflicts with numerous other rulings. First, this Court has made clear that lack of knowledge of the nature of a substance is a defense in a trafficking charge. Way v. State, 475 So.2d 239, 241 (Fla. 1985. See also State v. Dominguez, 509 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1987). The only difference between drug trafficking and drug possession is the amount of the substance involved, so lack of knowledge of the nature of a substance must also be a defense to a simple possession charge.

The reason for this rule in drug cases is clearly set forth in Rutskin v. State, 260 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972). In Rutskin, the defendant possessed a mail parcel which contained marijuana. In reversing the conviction for possession of marijuana, the First District stated:

There was no evidence that the appellant had knowledge that the unopened parcel contained marijuana. The fact that he happened to be the addressee of the parcel obviously does not supply the evidence that he knew that the parcel contained marijuana or any other contraband. If this were not so, any innocent person could be convicted of possession of marijuana just because he happens to be the recipient of a package containing marijuana.

<u>Id</u>. at 526.

While the Florida Standard Jury Instruction for § 893.13 does not include as an element of possession of a controlled substance that the defendant must know of the illicit nature of the substance, the standard jury instruction does state in a note to the judge that if the defendant seeks to show lack of knowledge as to the nature of the drug, then an additional instruction may be required. For that proposition it cites <u>State v. Medlin</u>, 273 So.2d

394 (Fla. 1973), one of the cases cited by the Fifth District for exactly the opposite proposition in Chicone.

Neither Medlin nor State v. Ryan, 413 So.2d 411 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. denied, 421 So.2d 518 (Fla. 1982), relied upon by the Fifth District for its decision, mandate the result reached. First, neither are possession cases. Second, Medlin discussed, and distinguished, both Rutskin, supra, and Frank v. State, 199 So.2d 117 (Fla. 1st DCA 1967). It did not overrule either case. Yet in those two cases, as well as the post-Medlin cases of Camp v. State, 293 So.2d 114 (Fla. 4th DCA), cert. denied, 302 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1974), and Doby v. State, 352 So.2d 1236 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), the appellate courts explicitly ruled that knowledge of the presence of narcotic drugs is an essential element of possession charges. is important to note that this Court denied certiorari in Camp after Medlin had been decided. See also United States v. X-<u>Citement Video, Inc.</u>, __ U.S. __, 115 S.Ct. 464, __ L.Ed.2d __ (1994) (defendant must know that one performer in film was a minor to be convicted of crime prohibiting knowingly transporting a visual depiction of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct); Staples v. United States, 511 U.S. , 114 S.Ct. 1793, 128 L.Ed.2d 608 (1994) (government must prove that defendant knew that weapon had characteristics that brought it within the statutory definition of machine gun).

Drug and paraphernalia possession offenses are numerous throughout this state. The Fifth District's decision on the sufficiency of the information and jury instructions expressly and directly conflicts with the Florida decisions cited at pages 5-7,

supra. It is respectfully submitted that the Court should accept jurisdiction over <u>Chicone</u> to bring the Fifth District in line with other appellate courts on this important point of law.

B. Sentence

The Fifth District erred in remanding MR. CHICONE's case to the trial court for resentencing, instead of striking the illegal November 12, 1993, sentencing order. This decision directly conflicts with holdings of this Court and other district courts of appeal which require subsequently imposed and enhanced terms of probation to be stricken. By remanding this case for resentencing, the Fifth District's decision allows the trial court to again illegally enhance MR. CHICONE's sentence by imposing special conditions of probation which were not part of his original sentence of October 6, 1993.

Once a defendant has begun serving a sentence, a trial court cannot increase the punishment. <u>Dailey v. State</u>, 575 So.2d 237, 238 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); <u>Bickowski v. State</u>, 530 So.2d 470 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988); <u>Tessier v. Moe</u>, 485 So.2d 46 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). As the United States Supreme Court has noted, the guarantee against double jeopardy is comprised of three distinct constitutional protections:

It protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal. It protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction. And it protects against multiple punishments for the same offense.

North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 717, 89 S.Ct. 2072, 2076, 23 L.Ed.2d 656 (1969) (footnotes omitted) (emphasis added).

MR. CHICONE began serving the community control, and complying with its standard and special conditions, on October 6, 1993. The addition of eight new special conditions of community control five weeks later (November 12, 1993) illegally enhanced MR. CHICONE's sentence, as each of these conditions imposed some additional restriction on his liberty. The Fifth District's order remanding the case to the trial court for resentencing is in direct conflict with this Court's holdings in Clark v. State, 579 So.2d 109 (Fla. 1991), and Lippman v. State, 633 So.2d 1061 (Fla. 1994).

In <u>Clark</u>, <u>Lippman</u>, and <u>Chicone</u>, there was a second sentencing order which enhanced the original sentence. <u>Clark</u> holds:

[B]efore probation or community control may be enhanced, either by extension of the period or by addition of terms, a violation of probation or community control must be formally charged and the probationer must be brought before the court and advised of the charge following the procedures of section 948.06. Absent proof of a violation, the court cannot change an order of probation or community control by enhancing the terms thereof . . .

579 So.2d at 110-111. Lippman holds:

[A]bsent proof of a violation, the court cannot change an order of probation by enhancing the terms. In the instant case, the court specifically found no violation of probation, yet proceeded to enhance the terms of Lippman's probation. This violated the double jeopardy prohibition against multiple punishments for the same offense. Thus, the order modifying probation must be vacated.

633 So.2d at 1064 (citations omitted).

The current practice of the Fifth District treating these unconstitutional enhanced sentences as mere "discrepancies" between the original and subsequent sentencing orders is a misuse of the

English language. Liveland v. State, 617 So.2d 1166, 1167 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993); Anderson v. State, 616 So.2d 200 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). A subsequent, enhanced sentence, entered without notice or hearing, is not a mere "discrepancy"; it is an illegal and void sentence violative of the due process and double jeopardy guarantees contained within the Florida and United States Constitutions. Lippman, 633 So.2d at 1064, and cases cited therein.

This Court's holdings on this issue have been recognized and followed in a number of district court decisions. See Washington v. State, __ So.2d __ (Fla. 4th DCA 1/25/95) [20 Fla. L. Weekly D252]; Williams v. State, 646 So.2d 264 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994); Catholic v. State, 632 So.2d 272 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); Dycus v. State, 629 So.2d 275 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993); Olvey v. State, 609 So.2d 640 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Cumbie v. State, 597 So.2d 946 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). The Fifth District's decision in Chicone expressly and directly conflicts with each of these cases.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities set forth in this brief, this Court should grant MR. CHICONE's petition for review, and order briefing on the merits.