FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 6 19951

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By .

JERRY JAY CHICONE III,

Petitioner,

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 85,136 5TH DCA CASE NO. 93-02659

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Respondent.

ON NOTICE TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANTHONY J. GOLDEN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #162172 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 6, 1993, Petitioner was before the trial court for sentencing on his convictions after jury trial for possession of cocaine and possession of drug paraphernalia in Orange County Circuit Court Case No. CR92-8163. The trial court withheld adjudication of guilt and placed Petitioner on one year of community control to be followed by three years probation. Those convictions were affirmed, but the cause was remanded for resentencing in 5th DCA Case No. 93-02659, opinion filed December 2, 1994. (Appendix I -- 5th DCA Opinion). It is from that opinion that Petitioner now seeks discretionary review.

It should be noted that, October 6, 1993, there was also a plea and sentencing in a related case involving the same defendant and the same issue concerning the special conditions of his probation. That case was before this Court in <u>Chicone v.</u> <u>State</u>, Florida Supreme Court Case No. 84,780. This Court declined to accept jurisdiction in that case by order dated February 2, 1995.

-1-

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal on the issue of the sufficiency of the charging document and the jury instructions on "scienter" is not in express and direct conflict with any of the cases cited by Petitioner. The Information tracked the statutory language and the instructions read were from the approved Florid Standard Jury Instructions.

Some of the special conditions of Petitioner's drug offender probation contained in the written probation order such as the prohibitions against using intoxicants to excess and against carrying firearms were not orally pronounced at the time of the entry of the plea in open court. The District Court remanded the matter to the trial court for reconciliation of the conflicts between the oral and written sentences. Petitioner relies on cases that hold that a previously entered order of probation cannot be modified absent proof of a violation. The trial court included conditions not orally pronounced in the written probation order, but did not amend a "previously entered" order. In a related case, Chicone v. State, Florida Supreme Court Case No. 84,780, this Court declined to accept jurisdiction over this Discretionary review of the District Court's same issue. decision on this issue is not warranted in this case either.

- 2 -

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE CASE SUBJUDICE IS NOT IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH ANY OF THE THIRTY OTHER CASES CITED BY PETITIONER.

Under Article v, Section 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), this Court may review any decision of a District Court of Appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another District Court of Appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law. In Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986), this Court held that the conflict between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision. In Department of HRS v. National Adoption Counseling Service, Inc., 498 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 1986), this Court said that inferential or implied conflict no longer may serve as the basis for jurisdiction. In Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1357 (Fla. 1980), this Court quoted from its earlier decision in Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958):

> We have heretofore pointed out that under the constitutional plan the powers of this Court to review decisions of the district courts of appeal are limited and strictly prescribed...It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts...To fail to recognize that these are courts primarily of final appellate jurisdiction and to allow such courts to become intermediate courts of appeal would resultin а condition far more detrimental to

> > - 3 -

the general welfare and the speedy and efficient administration of justice than that which the system was designed to remedy.

Given the fact that the Fifth District Court is a court of final appellate jurisdiction and given the very limited and restricted bases for this Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction based on conflict, it cannot be said that Petitioner has established any good cause for the exercise of that jurisdiction in the instant case. The opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the case sub judice is not in express and direct conflict with any of the some thirty state and federal court cases cited by Petitioner.

The District Court cited State v. Medlin, 273 So. 2d 394 (Fla. 1973) and State v. Ryan, 413 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 4th DCA 2d 518 (Fla. 1982), the 1982), review denied 421 So. for proposition that knowledge is not an essential element of the possession of cocaine and possession crimes of of drua paraphernalia in concluding that the charging document and jury instructions were adequate. The District Court distinguished these types of possession offenses from a violation of the trafficking statute, Section 893.135(1)(b), Florida Statutes, which specifically includes a knowledge element, citing State v. Dominguez, 509 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 1987).

Petitioner has attempted to circumvent the requirements of <u>Reaves</u> that the conflict must be express and direct and must appear within the four corners of the majority decision by arguing that this case involved constructive possession and by

- 4 -

analogizing to trafficking cases. The Information charged actual or constructive possession of cocaine and use or possession of drug paraphernalia. (Appendix II -- Information). The record on appeal prepared at the direction of Petitioner does not include a transcript of the trial testimony. The majority decision in this case includes absolutely no reference to constructive possession and now, contrary to Reaves, Petitioner seeks to go outside the four corners of the District Court opinion and outside the record on appeal to argue constructive possession. Also, contrary to Reaves, Petitioner seeks to establish express and direct conflict by analogizing to trafficking cases. The instant case is a case of possession, not trafficking. As explained in the District Court's opinion, the statutory elements of the two offenses are not the same. There is no express and direct conflict between District Court's opinion in this possession case the and Dominguez and the other trafficking cases he cites. The Information charging simple possession tracked the language of the statute and the jury was instructed using the approved standard jury instructions. Those instructions included the 893.13(1)(f), Standard Jury Instruction on Section Florida Florida Statutes, and included instructions on knowledge as it applies to both exclusive and non-exclusive possession. (Appendix II -- Information and Appendix III -- Jury Instructions Pp. 39-41). Further review of these matters is unnecessary.

The District Court did remand the cause for resentencing to correct the discrepancies between the probationary sentence as orally imposed and the subsequent rendered written probation

- 5 -

order. On direct appeal, Petitioner had argued that eight special conditions of his probation relating to possession of firearms, use of intoxicants, employment, visits by the community control officer, self-improvement, electronic monitoring (if necessary), retained jurisdiction and search without a warrant not orally imposed. Petitioner suggested that were the appropriate remedy was to strike all of these special conditions of his probation which were not orally pronounced at the sentencing hearing. The State argued that the appropriate remedy was to remand the cause to the trial court so that it could orally advise Petitioner concerning these special conditions of his drug offender probation. At that time, Petitioner could raise any objections he might have to those special conditions. All of the special conditions Petitioner seeks to have stricken are designed to effect his rehabilitation. A defendant is not required to accept probation and may reject the trial court's attempts to effect his rehabilitation by conditions of probation rather than by imprisonment. Bentley v. State, 411 So. 2d 1361, 1366 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), review denied 419 So. 2d 1195 (Fla. 1982).

Petitioner feels that remanding the case to the trial court to resolve these concerns directly and expressly conflicts with this Court's decisions in <u>Lippman v. State</u>, 633 So. 2d 1061 (Fla. 1994) and <u>Clark v. State</u>, 579 So. 2d 109 (Fla. 1991). Those cases do not meet the requirements for express and direct conflict as set forth in <u>Reaves</u>, <u>Supra</u>. In <u>Clark</u>, this Court held that the trial court may not place additional terms on a

- 6 -

"previously entered" order of probation absent proof of a violation. <u>Id.</u> at 110. That case is not in conflict with the instant case. At the sentencing hearing on September 6, 1993, trial court announced that it was withholding adjudication of guilt and placing Petitioner on one year of community control to be followed by three years of probation. Although the trial court did sign the court minutes from that hearing, the probation order was not formally "entered" by being reduced to writing and being filed until November 12, 1993 and, therefore, the court did not place any additional terms on a "previously entered" order of probation contrary to the dictates of Clark.

The other case relied on for conflict jurisdiction is <u>Lippman</u>. In that case, the trial court had modified a previously entered order of probation by prohibiting contact between the probationer and his victim despite the fact that the probationer had not violated the terms of his probation. This Court referred to its earlier decision in <u>Clark</u> in finding that, absent proof of a violation, the terms of probation could not be changed. Again, the State would argue that, in the instant case, the initial probation order had not yet been "entered" and, therefore, it was never modified. The instant case is not in express and direct conflict with either <u>Clark</u> or <u>Lippman</u> and, as in <u>Chicone v</u>. <u>State</u>, Florida Supreme Court Case No. 84,780, this Court should decline to accept jurisdiction for further review of this issue.

- 7 -

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, Respondent would suggest that this Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this case.